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2 1. 

INTRODUCTION 

Joel Gillis and Ed Wishner ran a Ponzi scheme through their company Nationwide 

3 Automated Systems, Inc., (collectively "NASI") scamming $125,000,000 from unknowing victims. 

4 For nearly 15 years they sold investors automated teller machines ("ATM") promising to lease them 

5 back and pay fifty cents for every transaction or a guaranteed return of 20% per year. Not a single 

6 investor was actually sold an ATM. Instead, investor money was used to pay other existing investors 

7 the guaranteed 20% return. 

8 2. NASI could not have succeeded as a Ponzi scheme without the knowledge and help of 

9 Defendant City National Bank. Defendant City National Ban1c was the primary bank for NASI over 

10 the 15 years of its existence as a Ponzi scheme. Defendant City National Ban1c was the bank at which 

11 NASI deposited investor money, received investor wire transfers, commingled investor funds, 

12 facilitated the use of investor funds to pay the monthly fictitious rent checks and to pay commissions 

13 to certain persons who solicited others to invest. Defendant City National Bank had before it the very 

14 nuts and bolts of the Ponzi scheme and could not perform even cursory due diligence without 

15 bumping up against evidence of the fraud. Not only was Defendant City National Bank instrumental 

16 in lulling investors into a false sense of security by helping to ensure that virtually none of the 

17 fictitious profit checks bounced, but it also routinely served as a reference for NASI in its recruitment 

18 of potential investors. 

19 3. On September 30, 2014, in an action entitled Securities and Exchange Commission v. 

20 Nationwide Automated Systems, Inc., et al., CV-14-07249, NASI was shut down and placed in 

21 receivership. On January 21, 2015, in an action entitled United States of America v. Joel Barry Gillis 

22 and Edward Wishner, CR-14-712, Gillis and Wishner pleaded guilty to mail and wire fraud and have 

23 subsequently been sentenced to lengthy jail sentences for what they have done. Plaintiffs bring this 

24 action to hold Defendant City National Bank accountable for the devastating harm it helped to cause. 

25 JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

26 4. This case has been filed in this Court because a substantial part of the acts and 

27 omissions complained of took place in the county of Los Angeles, because NASI may be found within 

28 the County of Los Angeles, and because the SEC office that has led an investigation of NASI is 
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1 located within the County of Los Angeles. 

2 PARTIES 

3 

4 

5. 

6. 

5 California. 

6 7. 

7 California. 

8 8. 

9 California. 

10 9. 

Plaintiff ROBERT NAIRN is an individual who resides in Orange County, California. 

Plaintiff CAROL VAN HORST is an individual who resides in San Diego County, 

Plaintiff BARBARA ORTWEIN is an individual who resides in Alameda County, 

Plaintiff PIRUZ KHORVASH is an individual who resides in San Diego County, 

Defendant CITY NATIONAL BANK, N.A., is a national banking association, with its 

11 principal place of business in Los Angeles, California. 

12 10. Defendants DOES 1 through 200, inclusive, whether individual, corporate, associate, 

13 alter ego, or otherwise, are fictitious names of Defendants whose true names and capacities, at this 

14 time, are unknown to Plaintiffs; Plaintiffs are informed and believe and thereupon allege that at all 

15 times herein mentioned, each Defendant sued herein as a DOE was acting for itself or its agent, 

16 servant, employee, and/or alter ego of its Co-Defendants, and in doing the things hereinafter· 

17 mentioned, was acting in the course and scope of its authority as such agent, servant, employee, and/ or 

18 alter-ego, and with the permission and consent of its Co-Defendants; and that each of said fictitiously 

19 named Defendants, whether acting for itself or as agents, corporations, associations, or otherwise, is in 

20 some way liable or responsible to Plaintiffs op. the facts hereinafter alleged, and caused injuries and 

21 damages proximately thereby, as hereinafter alleged, and at such times as Defendants' true names and 

22 capacities become known to Plaintiffs, Plaintiffs will ask leave of this court to amend this Complaint 

23 to insert said true names and capacities. 

24 11. Plaintiffs are informed and believe and thereupon allege that at all times herein 

25 mentioned, Defendant and DOES 1 through 200, inclusive, and each of them, were acting as agents, 

26 servants, alter egos, and employees of each other, and were acting within the full course and scope of 

27 their agency, servancy, and employment, with the full knowledge and consent, either expressed or 

28 implied, of either of the other Defendants and DOES 1 through 200, inclusive, and each of them. 
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1 (Defendants and DOES 1-200, inclusive, and each of them are hereinafter collectively referred to 

2 herein as "Defendants"). 

3 12. Plaintiffs are informed and believe and thereupon allege that at all times relevant 

4 herein, Defendants and each of them were and are inadequately capitalized and have no genuine or 

5 separate existence, but were and are used and are existing for the sole purpose of permitting the other 

6 Defendants to transact a portion of their business under a separate guise. 

7 13. At all times mentioned herein, Defendants and each of them completely controlled, 

8 dominated, managed, and operated the other Defendants and intermingled their assets with the assets 

9 owned by the other Defendants to suit their convenience, such that the individuality or separateness of 

10 the Defendants did not exist. 

11 

12 

14. 

15. 

The acts of Defendants and each of them were and are the acts of the other Defendants. 

Failure to pierce the corporate veil would promote injustice and, based thereon, 

13 Defendants and each of them are jointly and severally liable with the other Defendants. 

14 FACTS 

15 16. This matter concerns a large Ponzi scheme in which Joel Gillis and Ed Wishner and the 

16 entity they controlled, Nationwide Automated Systems, Inc. ("NASI") sold investment opportunities 

17 in automated teller machines ("ATMs") through purported "sale and leaseback" transactions. 

18 17. Since at least 1999, NASI told investors that it was in the business of placing, operating 

19 and maintaining ATMs, and that investors could purchase ATMs from NASI, and then lease them 

20 back to NASI in return for "rent" of 50 cents per ATM transaction, with a guaranteed investment 

21 return of at least 20% per year. Between January and September of 2013 alone, NASI raised at least 

22 $123 million in investor funds through its ATM sale and leaseback transactions with investors 

23 18. But NASI's representations were not true. Legitimate ATM transaction revenue 

24 represented only a tiny fraction - less than 2% - of NASI's actual revenue. The vast majority of 

25 NASI's revenue was comprised of new investor funds. To an overwhelming degree, therefore, 

26 investor funds were not being used to acquire, place, operate and maintain thousands of ATMs that 

27 NASI said it sold to investors. Instead investor funds were being used to pay guaranteed returns 

28 NASI already owed to earlier investors. NASI did not actually own most of the ATMS it had 
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1 ostensibly bought and allegedly sold to investors. 

2 19. On December 16, 2014, Joel Gillis and Edward Wishner were charged with mail fraud, 

3 pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1341, wire fraud, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1343, conspiracy, pursuant to 18 

4 U.S.C. § 1349, and aiding and abetting and causing an act to be done, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §2. 

5 20. On or about January 21, 2015, Joel Barry Gillis entered a plea of guilty to the charges 

6 of mail fraud and wire fraud. Pursuant to the guilty plea Joel Barry Billis admitted the following: 

7 (a) Gillis and NASI solicited and caused to be solicited funds from victim-investors 

8 purporting to sell them ATMs through NASI's ATM sale/leaseback program 

9 using a standard package of agreements, comprised of the following: (1) an 

10 ATM Equipment Purchase Agreement ("Purchase Agreement"); (2) an ATM 

11 Equipment Lease Agreement ("Lease Agreement"); and (3) an Addendum to 

12 Owner Lease Agreement ("Addendum"). 

13 (b) Under the terms of the Lease Agreement, victim-investors leased ATMs they 

14 had purchased back to NASI for an initial10 year term. The Lease Agreement 

15 provided that NASI would be responsible for operating and maintaining the 

16 ATMs and providing all the services necessary for this purpose, including 

17 processing and accounting for all ATM transactions; obtaining, delivering and 

18 loading cash from the ATMs; and repairing, maintaining, and servicing the 

19 ATMs. The Lease Agreement further provided that NASI was obligated to pay 

20 a monthly rent to the victim-investor in an amount equal to $.50 for each 

21 "approved transaction" produced by the ATMs during the covered month for 

22 the term of the lease. 

23 (c) Finally, the Addendum to the Lease Agreement modified NASI's rent 

24 obligation by guaranteeing NASI's payment of a monthly check to victim-

25 investors equal to a 20% annual rate of return on the victim-investors' initial 

26 investment. NASI guaranteed this 20% annual rate of return even if the number 

27 of transactions produced by the victim-investor's ATM was insufficient to 

28 provide, at the $.50 per transaction rate, a 20% annual rate of return. The 
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Addendum also modified the 1 0 year lease term provided for the Lease 

Agreement by granting the victim-investor the right, after only two years, to 

sell their ATM back to NASI at their original purchase price at any time, 

thereby recovering their original investment in full. 

(d) Each month, NASI caused monthly transaction reports to be sent to the victim

investors that purportedly detailed the performance of the ATMs that the 

victim-investors owned. The reported number of transactions of each of the 

ATMs supposedly formed the financial basis for the monthly payments that 

NASI sent to the victim-investors. In truth and in fact, the purpose of these 

report was to falsely confirm to the victim-investors that the payments they 

were receiving from NASI were being generated by the high-yield transaction 

fees earned by their particular A TMs, and to conceal that the payments were, in 

fact, Ponzi payments funded by monies received from other victim-investors. 

(e) The Purchase Agreement, Lease Agreement and Addendum packages that 

NASI entered into with its victim-investors were a sham and NASI's promises 

and representations to its victim-investors in connection with its purported sale 

and leaseback of ATMs were materially false and misleading. In truth and in 

fact, NASI typically did not sell and lease back the ATM machines it purported 

to sell to its victim-investors, and the serial numbers and the installation 

locations of the ATMs that were specified on the Exhibits A to the victim-

investors' Purchase Agreements were fabricated by NASI to create the false 

impression that NASI was selling actual ATMs that were installed in favorable 

locations throughout the United States. NASI did not own or operate the tens 

of thousands of ATMs that it claimed to have sold and leased back from its 

victim-investors, nor did it generate any transaction fees or revenue from the 

ATMs it purportedly leased back from investors and supposedly installed in 

favorable locations. 

(f) In truth and in fact, NASI was a Ponzi scheme, in which the vast majority of its 
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incoming revenue was comprised of victim-investor funds, which NASI used to 

pay returns to prior victim-investors, finance NASI's operations, and pay 

compensation to Gillis, Wishner and NASI's sales agent and employees. Not 

only were the tens of thousands of ATMs that NASI purported to sell to, and 

lease back from, victim-investors never owned or operated by NASI, in the vast 

majority of cases these ATMs never even actually existed. 

(g) By means of the false and fraudulent pretenses, misrepresentations and 

promises identified above, and others, NASI caused victim-investors to send 

money to NASI using the United States Mails and commercial interstate 

carriers and by means of interstate wirings, which money the victim-investors 

believed was being used to purchase ATMs as part of the NASI's ATM 

sale/leaseback program. 

(h) In furtherance of the fraudulent investment scheme NASI sent to victim-

investors, using the United States Mail, false monthly transaction reports for the 

ATMs purportedly owned by the victim investors. These monthly transaction 

reports set out in detail the fabricated ATM transaction fees supposedly 

generated by the non-existent ATMs that NASI had purportedly sold to and 

leased back from the victim-investors. 

(i) In furtherance of the conspiracy and fraudulent scheme, on or about the 

following dates NASI made the following deposits into NASI's City National 

Bank account x4410: 

G) On January 13, 2010: seven checks received from seven victim-investors for a 

total deposit of $246,300; 

(k) On or about March 29, 2011: 28 checks received from 28 victim-investors for a 

total deposit of$1,094,400; 

(1) On or about January 31, 2012: 27 checks received from 25 victim-investors for 

a total deposit of$2,219,600; 

(m) On or about February 1, 2013: 41 checks received from 33 victim -investors 
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15 21. 

for a total deposit of$1,329,124. 

(n) On or about August 4, 2014: two checks received from one victim investor for a 

total deposit of $936,000 

( o) As a result of the false representations, pretenses and promises and 

concealments of material fact described above as part of the fraudulent scheme 

NASI caused victim investor D.H. to mail a check for $468,000 payable to 

NASI from Santa Monica, California to NASI in Calabasas California, on or 

about October 24, 2013; caused victim-investor J.H. to mail a check for 

$120,000 payable to NASI from Hidden Hills, California, to NASI in 

Calabasas, California on August 26, 2014; and caused $1,000,000, to be wired 

for the benefit of victim-investor A.K. from Citibank account number x00089 

in New York, New York, to the NASI City National Bank account in 

California, by means of wire and radio communication in interstate and foreign 

commerce on or about July 30, 2013. 

Defendant CITY NATIONAL BANK was the primary bank whereby NASI deposited 

16 victim-investors checks, received and sent wire transfers, and wrote fictitious profit checks to victim-

17 investors. 

18 22. Congress enacted the Bank Secrecy Act, Title 31, United States Code, Section 5311 et 

19 seq. (the "BSA"), and its implementing regulations to address an increase in criminal money 

20 laundering activity through financial institutions. Among other things, the BSA requires domestic 

21 banks, insured banks, and other financial institutions to maintain programs designed to detect and 

22 report suspicious activity that might be indicative of money laundering, terrorist financing, and other 

23 financial crimes, and to maintain certain records and file reports related thereto that are especially 

24 useful in criminal, tax, or regulatory investigations or proceedings. 

25 23. Pursuant to Title 31, United States Code, Section 5318(h)(1) and Title 12, Code of 

26 Federal Regulations, Section 21.21, Defendant City National Ban1c was required to establish and 

27 maintain an anti-money laundering "(AML") compliance program that, at a minimum, provides for: 

28 (a) internal policies, procedures, and controls designed to guard against money laundering; (b) an 
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1 individual or individuals to coordinate and monitor day-to-day compliance with BSA and AML 

2 requirements; (c) an ongoing employee training program; and (d) an independent audit function to test 

3 compliance. 

4 24. At all relevant times, Defendant City National Bank maintained an anti-money 

5 laundering compliance program that provided for (a) internal policies, procedures, and controls 

6 designed to guard against money laundering; (b) an individual or individuals to coordinate and 

7 monitor day to day compliance with BSA and AML requirements; (c) an ongoing employee training 

8 program; and (d) and independent audit function to test compliance. 

9 25. According to the Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council, the cornerstone 

10 of a strong BSA/AML compliance program is the adoption and implementation of comprehensive 

11 customer due diligence policies, procedures, and processes for all customers, particularly those that 

12 present a higher risk for money laundering and terrorist financing. The objective of customer due 

13 diligence should be to enable the bank to predict with relative certainty the types of transactions in 

14 which a customer is likely to engage. These processes assist the bank in determining when 

15 transactions are potentially suspicious. The concept of customer due diligence begins with verifying 

16 the customer's identity and assessing the risks associated with that customer. Processes should also 

17 include enhanced customer due diligence for higher risk customers and ongoing diligence of the 

18 customer base. Customer due diligence policies, procedures and processes are critical to the bank 

19 because they can aid in: detecting and reporting unusual or suspicious transactions that potentially 

20 expose the bank to financial loss, increased expenses or reputational risk; avoiding criminal exposure 

21 from persons who use or attempt to use the bank's products and services for illicit purposes; adhering 

22 to sage and sound banking practices. 

23 26. At all relevant times, Defendant City National Bank adopted and implemented 

24 comprehensive customer due diligence, policies procedures and processes. Defendant City National 

25 Ban1c's policies provided for enhanced due diligence for customers who posed a higher risk of money 

26 laundering or terrorist financing. As part of the enhanced due diligence policy Defendant City 

27 National Bank was to obtain, both at account opening and throughout the relationship, the following 

28 information on a customer: purpose of the account; source of funds and wealth; individuals with 

9 
COMPLAINT 



1 ownership or control over the account, such as beneficial owners, signatories or guarantors; 

2 occupation or type of business (of customer or other individuals with ownership or control over the 

3 account); financial statements; banking references; domicile (where the business is organized); 

4 proximity of customer's residence, place of employments, or place of business to the bank; 

5 description of the customer's primary trade area and whether international transactions are expected to 

6 be routine; description of the business operations, the anticipated volume of currency and total sales, 

7 and a list of major customers and suppliers; explanations for changes in account activity. 

8 

9 

27. 

28. 

Defendant City National Bank first opened an account for NASI in 2000. 

Plaintiffs are informed and believe and on such information and belief allege that 

10 pursuant to its Customer Due Diligence procedures, at all times relevant Defendant City National 

11 Bank knew that NASI was in the business of the sale, leaseback and placement of privately owned 

12 ATMs. 

13 29. Private ATM investment leasebacks have been on the top ten list of Investment Scams 

14 published by the North American Securities Administrators Association since at least 2001. 

15 30. Plaintiffs are informed and believe and on such information and belief allege that at all 

16 times relevant Defendant City National Bank knew that private ATM investment leasebacks were a 

17 prevalent method for investment scams. 

18 31. Defendant CITY NATIONAL BANK determined NASI to be a high risk depositor on 

19 whom enhanced due diligence was required. 

20 32. Since at least 2005, according to the Federal Financial Institutions Examination 

21 Council's Banking Secrecy Act Anti-Money Laundering Examination Manual, "Privately owned 

22 ATMs are particularly· susceptible to money laundering and fraud." Banks should implement 

23 appropriate policies, procedures and processes, including appropriate due diligence and suspicious 

24 activity monitoring, to address risks with independent sales organization ("ISO") customers. At a 

25 minimum, these policies, procedures, and processes should include: (a) appropriate risk-based due 

26 diligence on the ISO, through a review of corporate documentation, licenses, permits, contracts, or 

27 references; (b) review of public databases to identify potential problems or concerns with the ISO or 

28 principal owners; (c) understanding the ISO' s controls for currency servicing arrangements for 
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1 privately owned ATMs, including source of replenishment currently; (d) documentation of the 

2 locations of privately owned ATMs and determination of the ISO's target geographic market; and (e) 

3 expected account activity, including currency withdrawals. 

4 33. Plaintiffs are informed and believe and on such information and belief allege that since 

5 at least 2005, Defendant CITY NATIONAL BANK knew that Privately owned ATMs are particularly 

6 susceptible to money laundering and fraud. 

7 34. NASI principal, Joel Gillis, in 1988 had been issued a cease and desist order from the 

8 Missouri Securities Commission. On November 2, 1988, in In the Matter of Prudential Petroleum 

9 Co., Joel Gillis, Principal Respondents, File No. CD-88-49, the Missouri Securities Commission 

10 ordered Prudential Petroleum Co., and Gillis, its principal, to cease and desist their unregistered offer 

11 and sale of securities. The information was publicly available on the internet. 

12 35. In 1989, NASI principal, Joel Gillis, was denied a continued series 6 license by the 

13 Financial Industry Regulatory Authority for his failure to disclose the Missouri cease and desist order. 

14 This information was publicly available on the internet. 

15 36. On March 2, 2007, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued an Order Making 

16 Findings and Revoking Registration of Securities Pursuant to Section 12G) of the Securities Exchange 

17 Act of 1934 as to ATM Holdings, Inc., whereby the Commission revoked the registration of each 

18 class of ATM Holdings, Inc.'s securities because ATM Holdings, a revoked Nevada corporation, had 

19 not filed any periodic reports with the Commission since it filed a Form 10-SB registration statement 

20 on March 30, 1998. The principals of ATM Holdings, Inc. were Joel Gillis and Edward Wishner. The 

21 information was publicly available on the internet. 

22 37. Plaintiffs are informed and believe that since at least 2005, in accordance with the 

23 FFIEC mandates regarding privately owned ATMs, Defendant City National Bank reviewed public 

24 databases to identify potential problems or concerns with the NASI and its owners Joel Gillis and 

25 Edward Wishner. 

26 38. Plaintiffs are informed and believe and on such information and belief allege that since 

27 at least 2005, Defendant CITY NATIONAL BANK monitored the account activity of NASI. 

28 39. Since at least 2005, Defendant City National Bank obtained federal income tax 
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1 infonnation for NASI. 

2 40. NASI used Cardtronics, Inc., National Lin1(, Ink and Automated Systems America, 

3 Inc., to service the ATMs owned by NASI. The revenue actually generated by the ATMs owned by 

4 NASI was sent to NASI and deposited into NASI's account at Defendant CITY NATIONAL BANK. 

5 The revenue generated by the NASI owned ATMs was approximately $90,000 to $150,000 per 

6 month. 

7 41. Since at least 205 Defendant CITY NATIONAL BANK knew that NASI used 

8 Cardtronics, Inc., National Link, Inc., and Automated Systems America, Inc., to service the ATMs 

9 owned by NASI. Defendant CITY NATIONAL BANK knew that the revenue actually generated by 

10 the ATMs owned or rented by NASI was sent to NASI by these service providers. 

11 42. Defendant CITY NATIONAL BANK knew that NASI in 2010 paid out $31,507,771 in 

12 ATM rental fees. 

13 43. From January 2013 through June 2014 alone, at least $119,844,937.00 of investor 

14 money was deposited into NASI's primary account at Defendant CITY NATIONAL BANK, account 

15 22144410. Most of the checks deposited into that account indicated on the face that it was for the 

16 ATM sale/leaseback investment. The checks were in the amounts of $12,000, $19,8001 or a multiple 

17 of those amounts. 

18 44. From January 2013, through June 2014, only $2,106,291 was deposited into NASI's 

19 primary account at Defendant CITY NATIONAL BANK, account xxxx4410, from Cardtronics, or 

20 National Link. 

21 45. NASI used account no. xxxx4439 at defendant CITY NATIONAL BANK from which 

22 to send victim-investors fictitious profit payments. From April 2014 through June 2014, NASI 

23 transferred $25,057,377.14 from the NASI Primary Account to the NASI Investor account. Transfers 

24 from the NASI Primary Account represented all but $3,461.50 of the total deposited into the account 

25 during April to June 2014 time period. 

26 46. From April to June 2014, NASI wrote 6,943 checks totaling $25,057,377 from the 

27 NASI Investor Account. The SEC reviewed only 4,536 of the checks. NASI paid out 99.2% of those 

28 checks to victim-investors as fictitious profits, or $23,492,097.00. During that same time period on 
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1 NASI received only $390,515.66 in ATM related revenue from Cardtronics and National Lin1c 

2 47. NASI sent out an average of 2,000 fictitious profit checks to investors on a monthly 

3 basis. 

4 48. Since at least 2005, through the due diligence mechanisms Defendant City National 

5 Bank knew that NASI was paying its investors with new investor funds, rather than being paid from 

6 legitimate ATM activity. 

7 49. Nonetheless, Defendant City National Bank allowed NASI, Gillis and Wishner to open 

8 sham bank accounts to shuffle investor money into certificates of deposit and to divert investor money 

9 into other sham entities accounts controlled by Gillis and Wishner. 

10 50. Defendant CITY NATIONAL BANK was so enmeshed with NASI that it, and in 

11 particular the manager of the Woodland Hills branch, on multiple occasions spoke to potential 

12 investors, serving as a reference for the NASI investment. 

13 51. The liability faced by Defendant CITY NATIONAL BANK can best be summarized 

14 by the article "When Bankers Look the Other Way" Business Law Today: American Bar Association, 

15 Volume 14, No.5 May/June 2005: 

16 A fraudulent investment scheme of an substantial size requires the services of a 

17 financial institution to continue. Banks are needed to gather money from the victim 

18 "investors" and provide them with the "returns" which, in reality, are nothing more 

19 than a portion of the investor's own money. Most important for the criminals, 

20 financial institutions are need to help steal the money by laundering it through other 

21 accounts, covering their trails and then hiding the money in overseas bank haven 

22 countries or their own pockets. When, despite knowledge of such fraudulent 

23 conduct, banks provide their assistance to the scheme, liability results. 

24 CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

25 52. Plaintiffs ROBERT NAIRN, CAROL VAN HORST, BARBARA ORTWEIN and 

26 PIRUZ KHORVASH bring this action under Secrion 382 of the California Code of Civil Procedure, 

27 on behalf of themselves and as representative of a class who are similarly situated and who fall within 

28 the following class definition: All individuals or entities who invested in NASI and lost money. For 
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1 purposes of this class definition, an individual or entity lost money only if the amount of money that 

2 the individual or entity received from NASI, including ay return on investment, commission, fees or 

3 other payments, was less than the amount of the individual's or entity's money invested with NASI. 

4 Excluded from the Class are governmental entities, any judge, justice or judicial officer presiding over 

5 this matter and the members of his or her immediate family, the Defendants, along with their 

6 respective parents subsidiaries and/or affiliates. Also excluded from this class are the legal 

7 representatives, heirs, successors and attorneys of any excluded person or entity, and any person 

8 acting on behalf of any excluded person or entity. 

9 53. Plaintiff Robert Nairn fits within the definition of a Class Member. Mr. Nairn was 

10 lured into investing in NASI. Mr. Nairn invested $120,000 in NASI and did not receive payment 

11 from NASI equal to or exceeding this investment. 

12 54. Plaintiff Carol Van Horst fits within the definition of a Class Member. Ms. Van Horst 

13 was lured into investing in NASI. Ms. Van Horst invested $72,000 and did not receive payment from 

14 NASI equal to or exceeding this investment. 

15 55. Plaintiff Barbara Ortwein fits within the definition of a Class Member. Ms. Ortwein 

16 was lured into investing in NASI. Ms. Ortwein invested $60,000 in NASI and did not receive 

17 payment from NASI equal to or exceeding this investment. 

18 56. Plaintiff Piruz Khorvash fits within the definition of a Class Member. Mr. Khorvash 

19 was lured into investing in NASI. Mr. Khorvash invested $60,000 in NASI and did not receive 

20 payment from NASI equal to or exceeding this investment. 

21 57. Plaintiffs do not know the exact size of the class. However, Plaintiffs believe that the 

22 class exceeds 1000, a number that is so numerous that joinder is impracticable. 

23 58. The claims of the Representative Plaintiffs are typical of the claims of the class in that 

24 Plaintiffs entered identical contracts and invested money with NASI. Indeed, Representative 

25 Plaintiffs' investments were in all relevant respects typical of investments by other class members, 

26 and the monetary damages and injunctive relief sought is common to the class. 

27 59. Representative Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interest of the class in 

28 that Representative Plaintiffs have no conflicts with any other members of the class, and are 
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1 represented by experienced and able counsel. The Representative Plaintiffs' interests are coincident 

2 with, and not antagonistic to, those of the class members. 

3 60. Numerous questions of law and fact are common to the class, including, but not limited 

4 to the following: 

5 (a) Whether a fiduciary relationship existed between NASI and Class Members; 

6 (b) Whether NASI breached a fiduciary duty to Class Members; 

7 (c) Whether Class Members' damages were caused by the breach of fiduciary duty 

8 owed to them by NASI; 

9 (d) Whether Defendants aided and abetted the breach of a fiduciary duty to Class 

10 Members by NASI; 

11 (e) Whether NASI intentionally misrepresented or conceal material facts to Class 

12 Members; 

13 (f) Whether NASI did so to induce reliance by Class Members; 

14 (g) Whether Class Members were justified in relying on the misrepresentations of 

15 material facts by NASI; 

16 (h) Whether Class Members' damages were caused by misrepresentation or 

17 concealment of material facts; 

18 (i) Whether Defendant City National Bank knew of the fraudulent activities of 

19 NASI; 

20 (j) Whether Defendant City National Bank substantially assisted the fraudulent 

21 activities ofNASI; 

22 (k) Whether Defendant City National Bank engaged in action of Laundering of 

23 Monetary Instruments (18 U.S.C. §1956), Engaging in Monetary Transactions 

24 in Property Derived from Specified Unlawful Activity (18 U.S.C. §1957), wire 

25 fraud (18 U.S.C. §1343), and mail fraud (18 U.S.C. §1841), and therefore, 

26 engaged in unlawful business acts and practices under Bus. & Prof. Code 

27 §§17200 et seq.; 

28 (1) Whether Defendant City National Bank committed tortious acts with fraud, 
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13 

oppression or malice; 

61. The questions of law and fact common to the members of the class predominate over 

any questions affecting only individual members of the class. Class action treatment is superior to the 

alternative, if any, for the fair and efficient adjudication of the controversy. Among other things, there 

is no interest by members of the class in individually controlling the prosecution of separate actions, 

and it is desirable to concentrate the litigation of the claims made herein in a single proceeding to 

provide small claimants with a forum in which to seek redress for these violations of California law. 

Whatever difficulties may exist in the management of the class action will be greatly outweighed by 

the benefits of the class action procedure, including, but not limited to, providing claimants with a 

method for redress of claims that may otherwise burden the Court with individual litigation. 

62. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 
Aiding and Abetting Fraud 

Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate herein the allegations set forth above as if fully set 

14 forth by this reference. 

15 63. NASI intentionally defrauded every investor, including Plaintiffs herein. NASI falsely 

16 represented that it was a profitable enterprise, when in fact it was a Ponzi scheme with no source of 

17 revenue other than sales to investors, and it was not deriving a profit from ATM machines. NASI 

18 failed to disclose material information that it was not profitable and did not have any source of 

19 revenue other than investments from investors. 

20 

21 

64. 

65. 

Plaintiffs would not have invested in NASI had they known the truth. 

Defendant City National Bank knew that NASI was engaging in fraud. Nonetheless, 

22 Defendant City National Bank substantially assisted and aided and abetted NASI by providing 

23 accounts into which investors money was deposited, comingling of funds between NASI accounts, 

24 and providing an account from which investors' fictitious profit payments were made. 

25 66. As a proximate result of Defendants' conduct, Plaintiffs suffered compensable damage 

26 in an amount not currently known, but believed to exceed $125,000,000. 

27 67. The Defendants' actions were malicious, fraudulent, oppressive and intended to injure 

28 Plaintiffs. Consequently, Plaintiffs are entitled to punitive damages. 
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1 SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

2 Aiding and Abetting Breach of Fiduciary Duty 

3 Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate herein the allegations set forth above as if fully set forth by this 

4 reference. 

5 68. NASI had a fiduciary duty to its investors to use their money to purchase and manage 

6 ATMs as promised. 

7 69. NASI breached this duty when it used investor funds to pay fictitious profits to other 

8 investors. 

9 70. Defendant City National Bank knew NASI had a fiduciary relationship to its investors. 

10 Defendant City National Bank knew that NASI breached that fiduciary duty by using investors' 

11 money to pay fictitious profits to other investors. 

12 71. Defendant City National Bank aided and abetted NASI by conducting investor money 

13 transfers to checking accounts used to pay fictitious profits to other investors. 

14 72. As a direct and proximate result of East West Bank's aiding and abetting Charter 

15 Investment's breach of fiduciary duty, Plaintiffs have suffered compensable damages in an amount not 

16 currently known, but believed to exceed $125,000,000. 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

73. The Defendants' actions were malicious, fraudulent, oppressive and intended to injure 

Plaintiffs. Consequently, Plaintiffs are entitled to punitive damages. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 
Aiding and Abetting an Endless Chain Scheme, C.C.P. §1689.2 

74. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate herein the allegations set forth above as if fully set 

forth by this reference. 

75. 

76. 

NASI operated an Endless Chain Scheme as defined by Cal. Penal Code §327. 

Defendant City National Bank, at all material times, had actual knowledge that NASI 

operated an Endless Chain Scheme. 

77. Defendant City National Bank aided and abetted NASI by conducting investor money 

transfers to checking accounts used to pay fictitious profits to other investors. 

78. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants' conduct, Plaintiffs suffered 
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1 compensable damage in an amount not currently known, but believed to exceed $125,000,000. 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

79. The Defendants' actions were malicious, fraudulent, oppressive and intended to injure 

Plaintiffs. Consequently, Plaintiffs are entitled to punitive damages. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
Violation of California Business & Professions Code § 17200 et seq. 

(Alleged against all Defendants) 

80. · Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate herein the allegations set forth above as if fully set 

forth by this reference. 

81. As described above, Defendant City National Bank participated in and perpetuated a 

Ponzi scheme by engaging in acts that include, but are not limited to: 

82. 

(a) Defendant City National Bank provided banking services to NASI in violation 

of 18 U.S.C. § 1956 (Laundering of Monetary Instruments); 

(b) Defendant City National Bank provided banking services to NASI in violation 

of 18 U.S.C. §1957 (Engaging in Monetary Transactions in Property Derived 

from Specified Unlawful Activity). 

Defendant City National Bank aided and abetted the perpetuation of a Ponzi scheme 

intended to mislead investors, which is a per se fraudulent business practice. 

83. Accordingly, Plaintiffs may obtain all remedies and penalties authorized by the statue, 

including, without limitation, restitution, disgorgement, and other penalties for each illegal or 

fraudulent business act or practice, and attorneys' fees pursuant to statute and the court's equitable 

powers, in an amount subject to proof. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs ROBERT NAIRN, CAROL VAN HORST, BARBARA 

ORTWEIN, and PIRUZ KHORVASH, on behalf of themselves and members of the class, pray for 

judgment against Defendants, jointly and severally, as follows: 

1. Declaring that this lawsuit is properly maintainable as a class action and certifying 

Plaintiffs ROBERT NAIRN, CAROL VAN HORST, BARBARA ORTWEIN and PIRUZ 

KHORVASH, as the representatives of the class; 

2. For aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty, all Plaintiffs, including the Class 
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1 Representatives on behalf of Class Members, seek compensatory damages in an amount to be proven 

2 at trial, but believed to exceed $125,000,000, interest on that amount, and punitive damages pursuant 

3 to California Code of Civil Procedure §3294; 

4 3. For aiding and abetting fraud, all Plaintiffs, including the Class Representatives on behalf 

5 of Class Members, seek compensatory damages in an amount to be proven at trial, but believed to 

6 exceed $125,000,000, interest on that amount, and punitive damages pursuant to California Code of 

7 Civil Procedure §3294; 

8 4. For violation of aiding and abetting an Endless Chain Scheme, C.C.P. §1689.2 all 

9 Plaintiffs, including the Class Representatives on behalf of Class Members, seek compensatory 

10 damages in an amount to be proven at trial, but believed to exceed $125,000,000, interest on that 

11 amount, attorneys fees pursuant to statute and the Court's equitable powers, and punitive damages 

12 pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure §3294; 

13 5. For reasonable attorneys' fees and costs of suit as permitted by law, including, but not 

14 limited to Code of Civil Procedure Section 1021.5; 

15 6. For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

16 JURY TRIAL DEMAND 

17 Plaintiffs hereby demand a trial by jury for all issues so triable. 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 Dated: January ~' 2016 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

By: Ste~en M. Nunez 
7 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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